## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

# **RECEIVED**

09-17-2014

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2014 AP 962 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

RANDALL L. SHEPARD,

Defendant-Appellant

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER ENTERED ON JANUARY 29, 2014 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MARQUETTE COUNTY, THE HON. BERNARD BULT PRESIDING.

Respectfully submitted,

RANDALL L. SHEPARD, Defendant-Appellant

TRACEY WOOD & ASSOCIATES Attorneys for the Defendant One North Pinckney Street, Suite 300 Madison, Wisconsin 53703 (608) 661-6300

BY: TRACEY A. WOOD State Bar No. 1020766

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. THE WARRANTLESS BLOOD DRAW WAS UNREASONABLE, AND GOOD FAITH DOES NOT APPLY TO THIS CASE.
  - A. Standard of Review.
  - B. The State has conceded this blood draw was not based upon exigent circumstances, and Wisconsin law does not currently permit a warrantless blood draw in a drunk driving case without exigent circumstances.
  - C. Good faith does not apply here, as the officer's reason for doing the warrantless blood draw was invalid under Wisconsin law at the time.
  - D. Application of the good faith doctrine must be determined on a case by case basis, as the Fourth Amendment does not tolerate blanket exceptions to its requirements.
  - E. No case has permitted the good faith doctrine to excuse an unreasonable warrantless bodily intrusion.

# STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Defendant-appellant recognizes that this appeal, as a onejudge appeal, does not qualify under this Court's operating procedures for publication. Hence, publication is not sought.

### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument would be appropriate in this case only if the Court concludes that the briefs have not fully presented the issues being raised on appeal.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal from a denial of a suppression motion challenging a warrantless blood draw. R. 23.

Mr. Shepard, the defendant-appellant herein, was originally charged with fifth offense operating a motor vehicle under the influence of an intoxicant and operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration. R. 1. After a successful collateral attack motion, he was then charged with only a misdemeanor fourth offense operating a motor vehicle under the influence of an intoxicant, as well as fourth offense operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration. R. 15.

The only issue raised in this appeal is the denial of Mr.

Shepard's Motion to Suppress -- Blood Test Result. R. 23; R. 32.

The parties stipulated to the officer's police report as a factual basis in lieu of taking evidence for the suppression motion. R. 41. The police report indicated that the officer placed Shepard under arrest for operating a motor vehicle under the influence of an intoxicant. He was read the Informing the Accused form. Shepard wanted to contact his wife, who was his power of attorney. The officer informed Shepard that was not an option. Shepard stated he was refusing the evidentiary chemical test of his blood. According

to the officer's report, the officer informed Shepard of the Wisconsin Implied Consent Law and told Shepard they would be going to the hospital for a blood draw. Shepard reiterated that he said "no." Blood was then taken at the hospital. R. 23; R. 24; R. 26; R. 30.

After extensive briefing by both parties and oral argument, the trial court found there was good faith for the blood draw in spite of the *Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 133 S.Ct. 1552 (2013) based upon *State v. Bohling*, 173 Wis. 2d 529, 454 N.W.2d 395 (1993), and *State v. Dearborn*, 2010 is. 84, 327 Wis. 2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97 (2010). The State conceded in its brief that exigent cicumstances were not present in this case; thus, its entire argument was premised upon good faith. R. 30. The Court stated:

All right. The Court does note, first of all, that this is a circumstance where our current law is somewhat in flux, with the McNeely decision that has put considerable restrictions in terms of how this type of activity, the blood draw and the related warrant requirements, are applied. The Court also notes that by the stipulation to have based this on the officer's report, that gives the Court a very limited record upon which to reflect. But nonetheless, the record is there.

I turn, I think – you know, the arguments that both counsel have made are interesting, persuasive. But in the <u>State v.</u> <u>Dearborn</u> decision, which is at **2010 WIS 84**, at paragraph four the Court specifically indicated that, "we hold the good faith exception precludes application of the exclusionary rule where officers" – and this is where I think it's important – "conduct a search in objectively

reasonable reliance upon clear and settled Wisconsin precedent that may later be deemed unconstitutional by the United States Supreme Court."

Looking at the limited record that I have before me, the officer's report, I do find that the officer did conduct his search in an objectively reasonable reliance upon the precedent.

I do agree with Mr. Hendee's statement that, given the current state of the law with the McNeely decision and the other recent decisions, there would probably be a different result if we were proceeding under that point. But under the holding of the Dearborn case that I just cited, I do think that the preclusion – that the rule is precluded by that reasonable reliance upon the earlier settled Wisconsin precedent. Based on that, I am going to deny the motion and we will schedule this matter for further proceedings. R. 32, pp. 9-10.

Shepard entered a plea of no contest to operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant as a fourth offense. His sentence was withheld, and he was placed on probation with jail as a condition, along with other conditions of probation. R. 33.

Shepard filed a notice of intent to file post-conviction relief.

R. 38; R. 39. Penalties were stayed pending appeal. Shepard then filed a notice of appeal to this Court. R. 43.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE WARRANTLESS BLOOD DRAW WAS UNREASONABLE, AND GOOD FAITH DOES NOT APPLY TO THIS CASE.

#### A. Standard of Review

Whether a warrantless blood draw falls within the exigent circumstances exception to the warrant requirement is a question of law subject to a *de novo* review by this Court. *State v. Faust*, 274 Wis. 2d 183, 682 N.W.2d 371 (2004) (citing *State v. Krajewski*, 255 Wis. 2d 98, 648 N.W.2d 385 (2002)); *State v. Bohling*, 173 Wis. 2d 529, 533 (1993), *abrogated by Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 133 S.Ct. 1552 (2013). The trial court's findings of fact are to be upheld unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Richardson*, 156 Wis. 2d 128, 137, 456 N.W.2d 830 (1990).

The application of constitutional principles to a case is a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Pallone*, 2000 WI 77, ¶ 26, 236 Wis. 2d 162, 613 N.W.2d 586; *State v. Dearborn*, 2010 Wis. 84, 102, 327 Wis. 2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97 (2010). A finding of constitutional fact consists of the circuit court's factual findings which are subject to the "clearly erroneous standard," and the

application of these historical facts to constitutional principles are reviewed *de novo*. *Id.*, ¶¶ 18-19; *State v. Popke*, 317 Wis. 2d 118, 126, 765 N.W.2d 569, 573 (2009).

B. The State has conceded this blood draw was not based upon exigent circumstances, and Wisconsin law does not currently permit a warrantless blood draw in a drunk driving case without exigent circumstances.

"The United States Supreme Court has consistently held that warrantless searches are *per se* unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment, subject to a few carefully delineated exceptions." *State v. Murdock*, 155 Wis. 2d 217, 227, 455 N.W.2d 618 (1990).

Searches performed incident to lawful arrests are one such exception. See: *Id.* at 228-29. However, "[t]he integrity of an individual's person is a cherished value of our society." *United States v. Schmerber*, 384 U.S. 757, 772 (1966). And because of the great interests in human dignity and privacy that are at stake, searches that intrude beyond the surface of the body require more than mere probable cause to arrest in order to pass constitutional muster. See: *Id.* at 770.

An exception to the warrant requirement is the existence of exigent circumstances, such as when the time needed to obtain a warrant would risk the destruction of evidence. *United States v.* 

Cisneros-Gutierrez, 598 F.3d 997, 1004 (8th Cir. 2010). The Court will objectively inquire "whether a reasonable, experienced police officer would believe evidence was in danger of removal or destruction." Id. "Search warrants are ordinarily required for searches of dwellings, and, absent an emergency, no less could be required where intrusions into the human body are concerned." United States v. Schmerber, 384 U.S. 757, 772 (1966). The burden of proof is on the State to demonstrate that an exigent circumstance existed, and that burden is both heavy and difficult to rebut. See Cisneros-Gutierrez, 598 F.3d at 1004; Welsh v. Wisconsin, 466 U.S. 740, 750 (1984). The State has conceded there were no exigent circumstances present in Shepard's case. In its brief, the State noted "To be very clear, the State is not arguing or implying that there were any exigent circumstances in the case before the Court." R. 30, p. 2.

The U.S. Supreme Court has previously acknowledged that a blood draw for evidentiary purposes is a Fourth Amendment search that necessitates a warrant, unless the particular facts of the case provide some acknowledged exception to the warrant requirement. *Schmerber*, 384 U.S. at 770. In *Schmerber*, a police officer arrived at the scene of a car accident shortly after it occurred. The officer smelled alcohol on the defendant's breath and noted the defendant's

bloodshot, watery, and glassy eyes. Less than two hours later, the same officer saw the defendant at the hospital and noted similar evidence of drunkenness. The officer arrested the defendant and, over the defendant's objections, directed a blood sample to be drawn from the defendant by a physician at the hospital. The defendant moved for suppression of the chemical analysis as the product of an unlawful search and seizure. The Court clearly stated that a warrant is required where intrusions into the human body are concerned, but in consideration of the specific facts of the case, it upheld the warrantless blood search. *Id.* at 770, 772. The specific facts upon which the Court relied were that, due to the fact that "the percentage" of alcohol in the blood begins to diminish shortly after drinking stops," "[t]he officer . . . might reasonably have believed that he was confronted with an emergency, in which the delay necessary to obtain a warrant, **under the circumstances**, threatened the destruction of evidence." *Id.* at 770 (internal quotation mark omitted; emphasis added). The Court further noted that "the test chosen to measure petitioner's blood-alcohol level was a reasonable one," and that "the test was performed in a reasonable manner." *Id*. at 771 (emphasis added). Thus, *Schmerber* rested on the special facts of the case.

Wisconsin caselaw has previously permitted warrantless blood draws, but the United States Supreme Court under *Missouri v*. *McNeely*, 569 U.S. \_\_\_\_\_, 133 S.Ct. 1552 (2013), has now clarified that the Fourth Amendment prohibits warrantless blood draws based upon a *per se* rule that the mere dissipation of alcohol constitutes an emergency situation permitting police to dispense with the warrant requirement.

In *State v. Bohling*, the issue was:

[W]hether the fact that the percentage of alcohol in a person's blood stream rapidly diminishes after drinking stops alone constitutes a sufficient exigency . . ., to justify a warrantless blood draw under the following circumstances: (1) the blood draw is taken at the direction of a law enforcement officer from a person lawfully arrested for a drunk-driving related violation or crime, and (2) there is a clear indication that the blood draw will produce evidence of intoxication

•

173 Wis. 2d 529, 533 (1993), abrogated by Missouri v. McNeely, 569 U.S. \_\_\_\_,133 S.Ct. 1552 (2013). Under those circumstances, held the Bohling Court, "the dissipation of alcohol from a person's blood stream constitutes a sufficient exigency to justify a warrantless blood draw." *Id.* (emphasis added). The Court, however, noted the possibility that Schmerber could be read to mean that the rapid dissipation of alcohol in the blood, coupled with the other facts of the case, created an exigency justifying a warrantless blood draw,

and concluded instead that our Court would deem *Schmerber* to mean that the rapid dissipation of alcohol in the bloodstream alone creates such an exigency. *Bohling*, 173 Wis. 2d at 539.

It is important to note that Wisconsin's reading of *Schmerber* has been disfavored in other courts. See for example: *State v. Rodriguez*, 156 P.3d 771, 570 Utah Adv. Rep. 55, 2007 UT 15 (Utah Jan 30, 2007) (No. 20040566), rehearing denied (Mar 28, 2007), *State v. Johnson*, 744 N.W.2d 340 (Iowa Feb 08, 2008) (No. 06-0880). Other courts have read *Schmerber* to stand for the proposition that the dissipation of alcohol in the blood is but one of a myriad of factors the officer in that case reasonably believed constituted an exigency significant enough to forgo the warrant requirement.

In *State v. Faust*, 274 Wis.2d 183, 682 N.W.2d 371 (2004), the Court stated "We reiterate that the reasonableness of a warrantless nonconsensual test [for blood alcohol content] . . . will depend upon the totality of the circumstances of each individual case." *Faust* at 383, n.16. The Court stated that "[t]here may well be circumstances where the police have obtained sufficient evidence of the defendant's level of intoxication that a further test would be unreasonable under the circumstances presented." Thus, *Faust* 

reaffirmed that it is not only the elimination of alcohol that is to be considered in determining whether there is an exigency sufficient to dispense with the warrant requirement; each case should be decided on its own facts. Every search must be reasonable.

Bohling has since been abrogated by Missouri v. McNeely, 569 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 133 S.Ct. 1552 (2013). In McNeely, the Court considered the case of Schmerber, supra, where a blood draw from a suspect arrested for driving under the influence was taken on an emergency basis. The Court noted that the Schmerber Court reiterated the importance of warrants:

Search warrants are ordinarily required for searches of dwellings, and absent an emergency, no less could be required where intrusions into the human body are concerned.

*Id.* at 770, cited by *McNeely* at p. 1557.

In *Schmerber*, the totality of circumstances, including the length of delay due to the transport to the hospital and the defendant's medical treatment, along with the dissipation of alcohol, led the Court to hold the officer in that case "might reasonably have believed that he was confronted with an emergency, in which the delay necessary to obtain a warrant, under the circumstances threatened 'the destruction of evidence.'" *Schmerber* at 770, (quoting *Preston v. United States*, 376 U.S. 364 (1964)). Notably,

17

the Court stated, there was "no time to seek out a magistrate and secure a warrant" because of the length of time it took to bring the suspect to the hospital and investigate the accident. *Id.* at 770–71, as quoted by *McNeely*, *supra* at 1560. Thus, the natural metabolism of alcohol is but one consideration in determining whether there is an exigency which justifies an exception to the warrant requirement when a subject is lawfully arrested for driving under the influence of an intoxicant.

The Wisconsin Court of Appeals also recently noted the applicability of *McNeely*, *supra*, to Wisconsin law in *State v. Reese*, 353 Wis. 2d 266, 844 N.W.2d 396 (Ct. App. 2014). In *Reese*, the Court of Appeals, District IV, noted that previous Wisconsin caselaw under *Bohling*, *supra*, and its progeny is no longer good law. It, however, upheld the lower court's denial of the suppression motion under a good faith analysis. Good faith will be discussed later in this brief, as good faith was the State's basis for requesting the test result not be suppressed; and the trial court decision was based solely upon a good faith analysis.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> According to CCAP, a petition for review was filed on March 21, 2014.

C. Good faith does not apply here, as the officer's reason for doing the warrantless blood draw was invalid under Wisconsin law at the time.

In order for the good faith exception to the warrant requirement to apply, the State must establish that police were relying upon settled precedent. See: *Davis v. United States*, 131 S.Ct 2419 (2011); *State v. Dearborn*, 2010 Wis. 84, 327 Wis. 2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97 (2010).

In the case at bar, the officer did not allege he was following *Bohling, supra*. He merely said he was doing a forced blood draw due to the Implied Consent Law. The Implied Consent Law, however, does not say that blood can be taken from an individual who refuses an evidential test. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(9)(a) states:

If a person refuses to take a test under sub. (3)(a), the law enforcement officer shall immediately prepare a notice of intent to revoke, by court order under sub. (10), the person's operating privilege.

Thus, the Implied Consent Law contemplates that when an arrestee refuses, the officer's duty at that time is to commence the refusal proceeding. The law does not say he should then draw blood over objection.

The Implied Consent Law, the alleged basis for the officer's forcing of blood, does not permit a warrantless blood draw.

Nowhere in that statute is blood permitted to be taken or forced after

an arrestee refuses such a draw. In fact, the Implied Consent Law permits refusals; albeit, there are certain ramifications for refusal, such as drivers license revocation. Under these specific facts, good faith does not apply.

Here, the officer was acting upon a misunderstanding of the law—that the Implied Consent Law required blood draws. That is simply not true—police in Wisconsin are permitted to request breath, blood or urine. The defendant also presented a reasonable objection to the forced draw—he did not want to give blood and had a right to refuse and asked to speak with his wife and power of attorney. Those objections were simply ignored. Even if Bohling remained good law, a reasonable objection mandates blood not be taken from an arrestee. Additionally, caselaw establishes that when arrestees make reasonable requests-like getting an attorney to help them make a decision as to whether to submit, the police should attempt to inform the arrestee that he is not entitled to an attorney at that juncture. That was not even done here. See: State v. Baratka, 258 Wis. 2d 342, 654 N.W.2d 875 (Ct. App. 2002); State v. Reitter, 227 Wis. 2d 213, 595 N.W.2d 646 (1999).

Bohling required the following four factors be present for such a draw to be permissible:

(1) the blood draw is taken to obtain evidence of intoxication from a person lawfully arrested for a drunk-driving related violation or crime, (2) there is a clear indication that the blood draw will produce evidence of intoxication, (3) the method used to take the blood sample is a reasonable one and performed in a reasonable manner, and (4) the arrestee presents no reasonable objection to the blood draw.

*Id.* at 534. Thus, the draw is only permitted if there is no reasonable objection. There was a reasonable objection here; thus, good faith reliance on *Bohling* does not apply. The officer did not claim he was relying on *Bohling*, *supra*, and this blood draw would have not been supported under *Bohling*.

D. Application of the good faith doctrine must be determined on a case by case basis, as the Fourth Amendment does not tolerate blanket exceptions to its requirements.

Even if this officer had said he was following *Bohling* and not simply proceeding under the Implied Consent Law, good faith would not apply.<sup>2</sup> Insofar as *Bohling* purported to create a *per se* exigent circumstances exception to the warrant requirement in cases of alcohol-intoxicated driving, good-faith application of its rule required strictly limiting *Bohling* to its facts, because the United

21

section of his brief in order to preserve his rights pending the decisions in the Wisconsin Supreme Court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Shepard recognizes this Court's decision to the contrary in *Reese, supra*, as well as unpublished cases citing *Reese*. Shepard also notes that the issue of good faith is likely to be addressed when the Wisconsin Supreme Court issues its decisions in the cases of *State v. Foster*, 11 AP 1673-CR, *State v. Kennedy*, 12 AP 523-CR, and *State v. Tullberg*, 12 AP 1593, which were all argued in that Court on September 9, 2014. Shepard raises this

States Supreme Court had otherwise clearly stated that the Fourth Amendment will not allow blanket exceptions to its protections, and that when an exception is claimed, the validity of that claimed exception must be evaluated on a case-by-case basis by a detached and neutral magistrate. This limitation on good-faith application of *Bohling* was also required by *Dearborn*, *supra*.

In *McNeely*, the United States Supreme Court held "the natural metabolization of alcohol in the bloodstream" does not create "a per se exigency that justifies an exception to the warrant requirement for nonconsensual blood testing in all drunk-driving cases." Rather, "exigency in this context must be determined case by case based on the totality of the circumstances." 569 U.S. \_\_\_\_\_, 133 S.Ct. 1552 (2013). That is, Wisconsin's *Bohling* is bad law. The Fourth Amendment will not tolerate a predetermined rule that the rapid dissipation of alcohol from the bloodstream is, *per se*, an exigent circumstance eliminating the warrant requirement in alcohol-intoxicated driving cases. The question then arises what effect this Fourth Amendment ruling has on application of the exclusionary rule in cases such as Shepard's which occurred prior to *McNeely*.

U.S. Supreme Court decisions construing the Fourth

Amendment apply retroactively "'to all convictions that were not yet

final at the time the decision was rendered." *Dearborn, supra* at ¶ 31 (quoting *United States v. Johnson*, 457 U.S. 537, 562 (1982)). Current Wisconsin law is that when retroactive application of a new Fourth Amendment ruling would result in application of the exclusionary rule, application of the exclusionary rule itself (not of the new Fourth Amendment ruling) is sometimes excepted on the grounds that law enforcement acted in objectively reasonable, goodfaith reliance "on clear and settled law that was only subsequently changed." *Dearborn, supra* at ¶ 34. The good faith exception to the exclusionary rule, however, is in tension with the rule of retroactivity. *Id*.

In *Dearborn, supra* the Wisconsin Supreme Court had to determine "whether the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule should apply when clear and settled precedent, reasonably relied upon by law enforcement, is subsequently overruled." *Dearborn, supra* at ¶ 16. There, law enforcement searched the defendant's vehicle after he had been secured in the back of a squad car. The search was authorized under then-precedential Wisconsin case law, namely, *State v. Fry*, 131 Wis. 2d 153, 388 N.W.2d 565 (1986) (overruled by *State v. Dearborn*) which, purporting to follow *New York v. Belton*, 453 U.S. 454 (1981), created a *per se* exception to

the warrant requirement for automobile searches incident to the arrest of a recent occupant: "A police officer may **assume** under Belton that the interior of an automobile is within the reach of a defendant when the defendant is still at the scene of an arrest, but the defendant is not physically in the vehicle." *Fry, supra* at 174 (emphasis added).

While Dearborn's case was on appeal, the U.S. Supreme Court decided *Arizona v. Gant*, 556 U.S. 332 (2009), which rendered *Fry* unconstitutional. In *Dearborn*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court, therefore, overruled *Fry* and considered the retroactive application of *Gant* to Dearborn's case. It held that because *Fry* was clear and settled law in Wisconsin at the time of the search of Dearborn's vehicle, law enforcement reasonably relied upon it, and the fruits of the search would not be suppressed (even though the search was unconstitutional), because in such a case suppression would not serve the purpose of the exclusionary rule, which is to deter unlawful police misconduct.

The good faith exception to the exclusionary rule only applies when the State meets its burden of establishing that the officer's behavior was done in accordance with binding and settled precedent, and that precedent is later overturned. Additionally, as noted above,

even Wisconsin's cases differed as to whether the mere elimination of alcohol should constitute a sufficient exigency without consideration as to other factors. *Bohling* seems to be the only case where a court permitted a *per se* exigency in blood draws without consideration as to any other facts.

The *Dearborn* decision itself says the following:

[U]nder our holding today, the exclusionary rule is inappropriate only when the officer reasonably relies on clear and settled precedent. Our holding does not affect the vast majority of cases where neither this court nor the United States Supreme Court have spoken with specificity in a particular fact situation. The only litigants who will be disincentivized [from challenging searches] are the relatively small number of defendants who choose to challenge searches that have already clearly and unequivocally been held lawful. The vast majority of cases, particularly in the factintensive Fourth Amendment context, will not fall into this category.

Dearborn, 2010 WI 84 at ¶ 46 (emphasis added).

In *Dearborn*, the Supreme Court "adopt[ed] the reasoning in *Gant* as the proper reading of Article 1, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution." The "reasoning in *Gant*" which the Supreme Court adopted, was that the "broad reading of *Belton*"—namely, that a blanket exception to the warrant requirement existed on the grounds of an assumed *per se* exigency in cases of automobile searches incident to arrest—untethered the rule from its circumstantial, factual

25

justifications. By adopting the reasoning in *Gant*, the Supreme Court accepted that the factual circumstances of each case provide the only justification for an exception to the warrant requirement. *Dearborn*, therefore, completely undermined the rationale of *Bohling*, because *Bohling* relied upon exactly the sort of assumed *per se* exigency untethered from the factual circumstances of the case that the "reasoning in *Gant*" found so repugnant to the Fourth Amendment.

Dearborn, thus, directly called into question the rationale of Bohling, making any good-faith reliance on Bohling impossible. It established that any case with such a per se rule ran afoul of the Fourth Amendment, and police action based upon such a case would not be excused by good faith. As noted above, Fry attempted to create a "bright-line" rule of uniform application in cases of automobile searches incident to arrest that would avoid the alternative, case-by-case factual analysis of the constitutionality of such a search:

The only other alternative to the Belton rule would be to permit searches on a case-by-case basis when the police believe that a suspect may escape from their control and regain access to an automobile. This alternative is unworkable, however, because such momentary escapes are not predictable. The rule would effectively prevent automobile searches, or at least eliminate any uniform rule of search. Given that we determine constitutional facts on an independent basis to assure the uniform application of constitutional rights, such an ad

hoc test for determining whether a defendant had access to the interior of an automobile is undesirable.

Fry, 131 Wis. 2d at 175 (emphasis added). And just that sort of "case-by-case" analysis, the elimination of any "uniform rule of search", and the requirement of an "ad hoc test" of the facts is precisely what the U.S. Supreme Court held in *Arizona v. Gant* was required by the Fourth Amendment. In *Dearborn*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court "adopt[ed] the reasoning in *Gant* as the proper reading of Article 1, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution."

Dearborn, supra at ¶ 27.

Thus, *Dearborn* itself adopted as law a decision of the U.S.

Supreme Court that <u>clearly rejected a per se</u> exception to the warrant requirement on the grounds that the *per se* exception untethered the exception from its circumstantial justification (see: *Gant*, 556 U.S. at 343). By adopting *Gant*, *Dearborn* undermined the entire rationale for any *per se* exigent circumstances rule, including that crafted in *Bohling*. After *Dearborn*, *Bohling* was no longer "clear" or "settled"

law in Wisconsin. Police should, therefore, not have been relying upon it at that juncture.<sup>3</sup>

Perhaps recognizing the difficulty any officer would have in interpreting various cases, the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals has distinguished between "good faith" reliance on a search warrant and "good faith" reliance on police understanding and application of court decisions:

We decline to extend further the applicability of the good-faith exception to evidence seized during law enforcement searches conducted in naked reliance upon subsequently overruled case law—as distinguished from the subsequently invalidated statute at issue in *Krull*—absent magistrate approval by way of a search warrant. Such expansion of the goodfaith exception would have undesirable, unintended consequences, principal among them being an implicit invitation to officers in the field to engage in the tasks—better left to the judiciary and members of the bar more generally—of legal research and analysis. United States v. Real Property Located at 15324 County Highway E., 332 F.3d 1070, 1076 (7th Cir.2003).

Explaining the importance of the distinction between judicial and police evaluation of facts at greater length in the context of a

\_

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