## STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

**RECEIVED** 11-03-2014

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2014AP962CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

RANDALL L. SHEPARD,

**Defendant-Appellant.** 

## ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER ENTERED ON JANUARY 29, 2014 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MARQUETTE COUNTY, THE HON. BERNARD BULT PRESIDING

## **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

Respectfully Submitted,

STATE OF WISCONSIN 77 W. Park St P.O. Box 396 Montello, WI 53949 (608) 297-3020

By: Chad A. Hendee

**District Attorney** 

**Marquette County, Wisconsin** 

**State Bar No. 1036138** 

#

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

## I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A court should uphold the circuit court's findings of fact unless those findings are clearly erroneous. *See State v. Hindsley*, 2000 WI App 130, ¶ 22, 237 Wis.2d 358, 614 N.W.2d 48. The court will determine independently whether the facts found by the circuit court satisfy applicable constitutional principles. *Id*.

# II. THE GOOD FAITH DOCTRINE APPLIES TO THE WARRANTLESS DRAW OF SHEPARD'S BLOOD.

A. Exigency, Other Than Normal Dissipation, Is Not the Issue Before This Court.

Shepard spent a good portion of his argument setting forth the reasons why exigency does not allow warrantless blood draws. App. Brief, pp. 12-19. However, as he noted at the beginning of that argument, the State conceded and continues to concede that under the current state of the law after *Missouri v. McNeely*, 133 S.Ct. 1552 (2013) (decided April 17,

2013)., the actions taken by Deputy Ciezadlo would not survive a suppression motion if the actions had been taken after the finding in *McNeely*. In conceding the point, the State would note that this concession relates to the scenario if the fact scenario was occurring now. This is not meant to imply that prior to *McNeely* that there would not have been exigency based on the natural dissipation of alcohol from one's blood.

Prior to the Supreme Court decision in *McNeely*, Wisconsin had one well-established exception to the warrant requirement. This exception was a warrantless blood draw conducted pursuant to exigent circumstances. *See State v. Bohling*, 173 Wis. 2d 529, 547-48, 494 N.W.2d 399 (1993) (holding that "the dissipation of alcohol from a person's blood stream constitutes a sufficient exigency to justify a warrantless blood draw" if there is a lawful arrest and clear indication that the blood draw will produce evidence of intoxication); and *State v. Thorstad*, 2000 WI App 199, ¶17, 238 Wis. 2d 666, 618 N.W.2d 240 (holding that it is a reasonable search to withdraw blood without a warrant incident to a lawful OWI arrest).

The only real issue before this Court is whether the actions taken by Deputy Ciezadlo are covered by the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule.

B. Deputy Ciezadlo Actions Are Covered by the Good Faith Exception.

The parties stipulated to the facts as set forth in the police report of Deputy Ciezadlo. Shepard argues that:

The officer did not allege he was following *Bohling, supra*. He merely said he was doing a forced blood draw due to the Implied Consent Law. The Implied Consent Law, however, does not say that blood can be taken from an individual who refuses an evidential test.

## App. Brief, p. 19

This argument ignores the reality of law enforcement. Just because Deputy Ciezadlo did not state something similar to "Relying on Bohling, I decided to go ahead with a warrantless blood draw," does not mean that this court should interpret the situation any differently. Shepard seems to ask this court to make a finding that an officer should clearly state what legal basis he or she is acting upon as a reason for a warrantless blood draw for it to survive. However, that is not reasonable and is not the state of the law. In State v. Dearborn, 2010 WI 84, 327 Wis. 2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97 the court noted that the test for determining whether an officer's reliance on current precedent was reasonable "is an *objective* one, querying 'whether a reasonably well trained officer would have known that the search was illegal 'in light of 'all of the circumstances.'" Id. (quoting Herring v. United States, 555 U.S. 135, 145, 129 S.Ct. 695, 172 L.Ed.2d 496 (2009) (emphasis added). As the United States Supreme Court stated in Herring, a case relied upon by the Dearborn court, "evidence should be suppressed 'only if it can be said that the law enforcement officer had knowledge, or may properly be charged with knowledge, that the search

was *unconstitutional* under the Fourth Amendment." *Herring*, 555 U.S. at 143 (emphasis added). The circuit court in this case made a factual finding that Deputy Ciezadlo had acted according to settled precedent: "Looking at the limited record that I have before me, the officer's report, I do find that the officer did conduct his search in an objectively reasonable reliance upon the precedent." R. 32, p.10.

Wisconsin courts have recognized the "good faith" exception to the exclusionary rule when officers act with a reasonable reliance on settled law that is subsequently overruled. *See State v. Ward*, 2000 WI 3, 231 Wis. 2d 723, 604 N.W.2d 517 and *Dearborn*, 2010 WI 84, ¶ 4, (holding that "the good faith exception precludes application of the exclusionary rule where officers conduct a search in objectively reasonable reliance upon clear and settled Wisconsin precedent that is later deemed unconstitutional by the Supreme Court").

This court has been active in 2014 in cases that consider the numerous cases that were pending when *McNeely* was decided.

In *State v. Reese*, 2014 WI App 27, 353 Wis.2d 266, 844 N.W.2d 396, this very question was dealt with. Reese sought suppression related to a warrantless blood draw because although the blood sample was obtained consistent with the supreme court's long-standing holding in *Bohling* that the natural dissipation of alcohol alone constitutes an exigent circumstance justifying a warrantless blood draw, Reese's case was still pending when the

United States Supreme Court in *McNeely* rendered *Bohling* bad law.

\*Reese, 353 Wis.2d 266, ¶¶ 1, 18–19, 844 N.W.2d 396. This court held in \*Reese\* that evidence related to the blood sample should not be excluded because "[a]t the time of the blood draw the officer was following clear, well-settled precedent established by the Wisconsin Supreme Court, which [as the supreme court stated in \*Dearborn\*] 'is exactly what officers should do.' "\* \*Reese\*, 353 Wis.2d 266, ¶ 22, 844 N.W.2d 96 (quoting \*Dearborn\*, 327 Wis.2d 252, ¶ 44, 786 N.W.2d 97).

The Reese court concluded that any deterrent effect on officer misconduct, "which our supreme court characterized as 'the most important factor' in determining whether to apply the good faith exception, would, as in *Dearborn*, be nonexistent in this case because the officer did not and could not have known at the time that he was violating the Fourth Amendment." Reese, 353 Wis.2d 266, ¶ 22, 844 N.W.2d 396 (quoting *Dearborn*, 327 Wis.2d 252, ¶ 49, 786 N.W.2d 97). That is exactly the case that is before this court. This case is also similar to four cases decided by the Court of Appeals this year. The four cases, along with the *Reese* case, all dealt with the same situation facing this court; blood draw cases that were pending at the time of McNeely and all found that the good faith exception applied. The four following cases are all unpublished, given for persuasive value and attached in Respondent's Appendix; State v. Morton, No. 2013AP2366–CR, unpublished slip op., (WI App April 17, 2014);

County of Waukesha v. Patel, No. 2013AP2292, unpublished slip op., (WI App May 14, 2014); State v. Godard, No. 2014AP396–CR, unpublished slip op., (WI App August 28, 2014); State v. Thom, No. 2014AP613, unpublished slip op., (WI App September 9, 2014). Though Shepard may want this court to come to a different result, the facts and law do not support overturning the factual findings made by the circuit court.

## **CONCLUSION**

For the above stated reasons the State requests that this Court affirm the trial court's denial of Shepard's Motion to Suppress - Blood Test Results.